IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ANDERSON,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: SC00-59 v.

CATHY ANDERSON,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM CONFLICT CERTIFIED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

412 E. Madison Street Suite 817 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 277-0928

CATHERINE M. CATLIN, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 650226

CATHERINE M. CATLIN, P.A.

SCHROPP, BUELL & ELLIGETT, P.A.

112 F. Madizan Character. 401 E. Jackson Street Suite 2600 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 221-2600

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Michael Anderson seeks review of the ruling that he must pay child support for fifteen years after the dissolution of his marriage for a child that is not his. He sought relief from the support obligation in the final dissolution within a year after that order, based on DNA testing that showed his former wife had lied to him when repeatedly telling him he was the father of the child.

Petitioner, Michael Anderson, refers to himself as "Michael," as the Second District did in its opinion in this case.

Michael Anderson refers to Respondent, Cathy Anderson, as "Cathy," as the Second District did.

Michael Anderson refers to the record on appeal by the prefix "R Vol./page number."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Second District's opinion sets out the basic facts of the case, which Michael Anderson supplements and provides record cites for. Michael and Cathy had stopped dating when she called to tell him she was pregnant and that he was the father of the child (R V3/11-14). They were married and the child, M., was born in May 1994 (R V3/15-16). Cathy petitioned for divorce in October 1995 (R V1/1).

Prior to a June 1996 hearing, Cathy's sister told Michael that Cathy had previously been married and had a son from a relationship (R V3/22). Michael testified that when he confronted Cathy after the hearing, she denied having been married and having a son from a prior relationship (R V3/34). Michael had obtained a copy of the prior marriage certificate (R V3/25). Cathy testified that she told him she had been married to the man in question (R V3/112, 124).

During this conversation, Cathy and Michael agree that, in response to direct questioning from Michael, she assured him M. was his child (R V3/35, 113). Cathy said if Michael did not believe her, he could check it (R V3/35).

Michael testified he had no doubt the child was his (R V3/42). He instructed his counsel at the time that there was no need to pursue her standard request for paternity testing (R V3/72-73).

Michael testified he had no inkling the child was not his, and no doubts that she was his (R V3/42, 167).

The trial court entered an amended final judgment in December 1996 (R V1/146). As the Second District noted, Michael testified that Cathy interfered with his visitation (R V3/42). Michael testified he had considered doing a paternity test, but could not afford the \$900 he had been quoted and was in no rush because he had no doubt the child was his (R V3/167). Michael submitted himself and the child for DNA testing in March 1997 (R V1/181; V3/42). The test revealed, "the alleged father, MICHAEL LEE ANDERSON, is excluded as being the father of the child, M. M.A." (R V1/181; V2/303-305)(original emphasis). Michael has not seen the child since (R V3/42).

In May 1997, less than a year after the judgment, Michael sought relief from paying child support, filing a motion for relief from the judgment and a petition to modify the judgment (R V1/178, 190). At the evidentiary hearing before the Master, Cathy continued to claim Michael was the father and that she "never had sex with anybody else" (R V3/111, 153).

The transcript at 167 misstates his initial response as he still had "a" doubt instead of "no" doubt, but the subsequent question and answer that he had no doubts clarifies this typographical error, as does the Master's factual recitation of his testimony that he testified he had "no doubt" that M. was his daughter (R V2/297). The initial question and response about inkling at R V3/42 was also misread by Cathy in her brief below. Michael stated, "I didn't have any inkling then." The transcript reflects several instances where opposing counsel asked Michael compound questions and it appears Michael was answering part of a question or an earlier question. In any event, these do not affect the legal issue presented.

The Master's report recited that no information came to Michael's attention after the judgments that he did not have before the judgments were entered (R V2/297). As discussed below, Michael contends this is incorrect, as the difficulties he encountered with visitation occurred after, and his knowledge from the DNA test came after. Based on his conclusion that Michael had no new information, the Master found he could not challenge the alleged fraud perpetrated upon him by Cathy (R V2/298). The Master's order denied both the Rule 12.540 motion and Michael's petition for modification of the judgment (R V2/298). The circuit court denied Michael's exceptions to the Master's report and he appealed to the Second District (R V2/315, 316).

The Second District affirmed but certified conflict, holding that its decision was "legally, and nearly factually, indistinguishable from" DeRico v. Wilson, 714 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). The Second District noted it had previously recognized conflict with DeRico in its decision in D.F. v. Department of Revenue, 736 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), which is pending before this Court as Case No. 96,288.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

Where a wife repeatedly told her husband he was the father of a child who was less than three years old at dissolution, must the former husband pay support for an additional fifteen years where, within one year of the dissolution, he moves to terminate payments when DNA tests show he is not the father?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A husband should be entitled to rely on his wife's affirmative statement to him that he is the father of a child born during the marriage. When the true answer to that direct question is "I don't know," but the wife answers unequivocally that the child is his, the wife has made a misrepresentation to the husband.

After Cathy interfered with his visitation rights, Michael obtained a DNA test. To his surprise, the test conclusively showed he was not the father. He moved promptly to be relieved of the remaining fifteen years of his child support obligation. His motion should be granted.

Michael has not seen the child since the DNA test. The child will remain legitimate. There is no policy reason to maintain the facade that Michael is the father. Perhaps when Michael's request for relief is granted, it will facilitate a relationship between the child and the child's father.

ARGUMENT

Where a wife affirmatively told her husband he was the father of a child who was less than three years old at dissolution, the former husband should not be forced to pay support for an additional fifteen years where, within one year of the dissolution judgment, he moves to terminate payments when DNA tests show he is not the father.

Only three years ago, this Court quoted the "well-settled rule of law in this state" that "a person has no legal duty to provide support for a minor child who is neither his natural nor his adopted child and for whose care and support he has not contracted." Daniel v. Daniel, 695 So. 2d 1253, 1254 (Fla. 1997).

Cathy Anderson lied to Michael Anderson when she told him she was pregnant with his child while they were separated. Cathy and Michael then married. After Cathy filed for divorce, she again lied to him when he asked her directly if the child was his. She said "yes," when the true answer was "no." At best for Cathy, giving her the benefit of the doubt, the true answer was "I don't know." Assuring Michael he was the father when the true answer was "I don't know" was a lie.

Thus, either way, Cathy's statement to Michael was a misrepresentation that warranted setting aside the support obligation of the dissolution judgment. Michael moved to do so

after he learned Cathy had made a misrepresentation to him, and within one year of the dissolution judgment.

In Daniel, the husband knew at the time of the marriage that his wife was pregnant with the child of another man. 695 So. 2d at 1254. Yet this Court held that he did not have a continued obligation to provide child support once he and his wife divorced. Here, Michael Anderson did not know the child was not his when he married, and did not know she was not his when they divorced. Yet under the ruling below, he will be required to provide child support for fifteen additional years. In other words, Michael is worse off than Mr. Daniel, who knew the truth going in. Michael was lied to and is being penalized.

Cathy Anderson's response boils down to arguing that Michael should have caught her lying sooner. She argues that because he said she denied being candid about her prior marriage, he should have concluded she lied to him on the parentage of the child. First, this ignores her testimony that she told Michael of that marriage. Second, not surprisingly, she cites no case law supporting this position, that sanctions rewarding a misrepresentation on a separate critical issue.

Cathy's argument also ignores that she made a misrepresentation to Michael in response to his direct question, on whether he was the child's father. Cathy's best case scenario is to assume that she did not know who was the true father of the child. That still makes her response to his direct question -- that Michael was the father -- a misrepresentation. The true

answer would have been "I don't know." If Cathy had given the true "I don't know" answer, then perhaps she could argue Michael should have been charged with responsibility with going forward to obtain a parentage determination at that time.

Given Cathy's definitive answer that Michael was the father of the child, he was entitled to rely on his wife's statement in not challenging parentage during the dissolution proceeding.

Family Law Rule of Procedure 12.540 provides Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540 shall govern relief from judgments, decrees or orders. Rule 1.540(b)(3) provides for relief from judgments for fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party (emphasis added). Cathy's unequivocal statement that Michael was the father was a misrepresentation or a fraud.

As a recent appellate decision noted, Rule 1.540(b) does not contemplate only affirmative misrepresentations by an adverse party, but includes omissions. *Crowley v. Crowley*, 678 So. 2d 435, 438, n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), citing *In re Adoption of a Minor Child*, 593 So. 2d 185, 190 (Fla. 1991).

Rule 1.540 does not limit relief to instances of "fraud," but includes "misrepresentations." This Court has long held that even an innocent false representation warrants, for example, recission of a contract. See Robson Link & Co. v. Leedy Wheeler & Co., 154 Fla. 596, 18 So. 2d 523 (1944); Langley v. Irons Land & Development Co., 94 Fla. 1010, 114 So. 769 (1927); see also Billian v. Mobil

Corporation, 710 So. 2d 984, 990 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), review denied, 725 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1998).

Contrary to the statement in the Master's report, all of the information known to Michael at the time he filed for relief was not known to him at the time of the final judgment. The most important information not known to him was the result of the DNA test, which conclusively showed the child was not his daughter. Another fact not know to him at the time of the final judgment was Cathy's subsequent interference with his visitation rights. Such interference was a reasonable basis to prompt Michael to seek confirmation that he was the father. As he testified, to his surprise, the DNA test proved he was not (R V3/41).

The Second District stated its decision expressly and directly conflicted with the Fifth District's opinion in DeRico v. Wilson, 714 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). The Second District offered no analysis for disagreeing with DeRico, other than stating that it agreed with Judge Harris's dissent. The Second District noted the Anderson case "is legally, and nearly factually, indistinguishable from DeRico." First, DeRico is the better approach to this issue. Second, Michael Anderson's case presents a stronger argument than in DeRico, both legally and factually, for not holding him responsible for an additional fifteen years of support payments for a child that is not his.

In *DeRico*, there were three children born during the marriage: Arthur, Jr. in 1988, Travis in 1989, and Nya in 1992. The 1994

dissolution judgment required Mr. DeRico to pay child support for the three children. 714 So. 2d at 624.

In 1996, the parties agreed to a DNA parentage test as to Nya that showed Mr. DeRico was not the biological father. An April 1996 blood test of Travis rendered the same conclusion (there is no reference to any agreement for a blood test regarding Travis). Mr. DeRico moved the trial court to terminate child support obligations as to Nya and Travis. 714 So. 2d at 624.

The trial court denied Mr. DeRico's request and he appealed. The Fifth District reversed, citing this Court's decision in *Daniel* and the language quoted above. The Fifth District noted there was no issue as to the children's legitimacy since, because they were born during a valid marriage, they would remain legitimate. 714 So. 2d at 624, citing *Daniel*, 695 So. 2d at 1255.

The Fifth District held Mr. DeRico was not required to pay further child support payments and was entitled to a refund of support payments as to Nya and Travis paid since filing his petition. 714 So. 2d at 624.

Judge Harris's dissent said the case may present an exception to the rule this Court stated in *Daniel* that a person has no legal duty to provide support for a minor child who is neither his natural nor his adopted child.

Judge Harris focused on the trial court's determination that although the wife had been unfaithful, she did not know the children were not her husband's until she learned of the DNA results. He felt this distinguished between a wife who was unsure

of the identity of the father because she knows she had been faithful but remained silent, and a wife who knows or has reason to know that the husband is not the father, but leads him to believe he is. He noted the trial court found, based on this distinction, that there was no fraud committed on the husband.

First, the purported distinction is not valid. A wife who has been unfaithful at least has reason to know that the husband may not be the father of the child. The dissent ignores that even when the wife claims she does not "know" if the children are not her husband's, she commits a misrepresentation by omission. The wife is uniquely positioned to know that when she has had an affair, such a child may not be her husband's. An omission of a material fact entitles a party to relief from a judgment. See Crowley; In Re Adoption. Also, the dissent's approach would permit a wife in this situation to control the outcome with her own self-serving, unchallengeable testimony that she did not "know."

Second, the Andersons' situation differs materially from the DeRicos'. There is no suggestion Mrs. DeRico unequivocally assured her husband he was the father of the children in response to his direct questioning. Here, Cathy Anderson affirmatively told Michael that he was the father.

Judge Harris said the trial court apparently applied the principles that a divorce decree that establishes the paternity of the child is a final determination and is res judicata in any future proceedings. He went on to admit that an affirmance "appears grossly unfair" regarding the younger child (the mother

was living with the father, but getting support from her former husband). Judge Harris concluded by stating, "but I am unable to suggest a reasonable exception to the exception." 714 So.2d at 626, n. 5.

Even if the *DeRico* dissent were correct in assuming the existence of a prior judgment obliterates this Court's policy statement in *Daniel*, the dissent did not focus on when a father should be relieved from paying support for a child that is not his. In *DeRico*, the father moved to modify more than a year after the dissolution judgment. 714 So. 2d at 624. The dissent does not address the fact situation in the Andersons' case.

The Second District's reliance on the *DeRico* dissent ignores the differences in the two cases. Michael Anderson did move to modify and for relief within one year of the judgment, and did so based on Cathy's misrepresentation.

There is no suggestion in *DeRico* that prior to the dissolution judgment the husband asked the wife if either of the children in question were his. By contrast, it is undisputed that Michael asked Cathy, and she stated unequivocally that the child was his. This was a false statement. As noted, even giving Cathy the benefit of the doubt that she did not know who the father was, her unequivocal statement that Michael was the father was false, when the true answer would have been "I don't know." Thus, contrary to the situation in *DeRico*, Cathy's statement was a fraud or a misrepresentation, either of which warrants relief under 1.540(b)(3).

If Michael had not asked and Cathy had not lied, the facts would be different and closer to the apparent facts in DeRico. Michael's case presents a much stronger case than DeRico.

Even if Michael had not asked and Cathy had not lied, under DeRico he would be entitled to relief from child support payments over the next fifteen years for a child that is not his. The unarticulated "public policy" concerns in the dissent were not adopted by the majority in DeRico. This is likely because they cannot be reconciled with this Court's holding in Daniel, that a husband in these circumstances has no legal duty to provide support to a minor child that is neither his natural nor adopted child.

Under *DeRico* and *Daniel*, such a child born during marriage remains legitimate. The only thing that changes is that a man who is not the father is no longer required to pay child support for a child that is not his. The mother will be free to seek child support from the father.

The unarticulated policy concerns make no sense in the context of a dissolution. At that point, the husband and wife are separating and they will no longer be maintaining a single family unit with the child. If the husband affirmatively inquires, as Michael did here, he is entitled to know if the child may not be his.

Michael has not seen the child since the DNA tests showed he was not the father (R V3/42). Thus, holding him financially responsible for fifteen years for a child that is not his will not mean he has any personal relationship with the child. Indeed,

terminating his financial obligation may lead to establishing a relationship between the child and her natural father that is both financially and personally supportive.

When a wife makes an affirmative allegation in a petition or otherwise in the dissolution proceeding that her husband is the father, the husband should be able to rely upon such an affirmative statement. Even if Michael Anderson had not asked, he would be entitled to relief under the rationale of *DeRico*. Here, he did ask and was assured by his wife that the child was his. This was a misrepresentation.

As noted, the Master's statement that Michael had no new factual information is wrong. However, even if correct, Michael would still have been entitled to relief. There is no suggestion in DeRico that the husband had any new information after the dissolution judgment (before getting the DNA tests). Rule 1.540(b)(2) permits relief for a judgment for newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial or rehearing. Rule 1.540(b)(3) provides a separate ground for relief when there has been fraud or misrepresentation. Cathy's best case scenario is that she committed a misrepresentation.

Michael had the DNA test done in March 1997, after encountering child visitation problems and when he was able to locate a testing facility that he could afford (for less than \$300, as contrasted with the original price he had been given of approximately \$900). A ruling that penalized Michael for waiting

a short period of time until he could afford to have the testing done presents serious public policy issues: those who do not have the money for such testing would be sentenced to a 15-year term of unwarranted child support payments.

For the foregoing reasons, the Second District's judgment should be reversed, consistent with *Daniel* and *DeRico*. Michael addresses a few additional points, which although not mentioned by the Second District, Cathy had raised below.

Cathy attempted to criticize Michael for taking the child for a DNA test, and argued that in *DeRico*, the test on Nya was performed by the agreement of the parties. First, *DeRico* does not suggest that was a relevant factor. Second, *DeRico* makes no mention of any agreement to test Travis, which occurred three months later.

Third, Cathy had already told Michael in response to his question during the dissolution that Michael was the father and that he could "check it" (R V3/35). Thus, she had authorized him to take the child for a test. The DNA test was a simple procedure: using cotton swabs in the child's mouth and Michael's mouth (R V3/41).

Lefler v. Lefler, 722 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), reversed the trial court's refusal to permit a former husband to obtain a blood test to determine if he is the biological father of a child born during the marriage.

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