THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ANDERSON,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: SC00-59

And

CATHY ANDERSON,

Respondent,

ON REVIEW FROM CONFLICT CERTIFIED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

/

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

Thomas D. Casper, Esquire FBN: 107424 One Urban Centre, Suite 750 4830 West Kennedy Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33609 (813)286-4300 Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>DANIEL V. DANIEL</u> SHOULD BE LIMITED TO THOSE CASES WHERE THE ISSUES OF PATERNITY AND CHILD SUPPORT ARE RAISED AT THE TRIAL LEVEL PRIOR TO ENTRY OF FINAL JUDGMENT.

When applied to post-judgment proceedings, the <u>Daniel</u> decision (supra) from this Court does not take into account the traditional burdens that are imposed when seeking relief under Fla. Fam. L.R. P. 12.540(b) . The Rule requires that Michael Anderson must prove fraud in order to obtain post-judgment relief. To ignore this requirement or the defenses of res judicata and estoppel in cases involving paternity and child support will open the flood gates for post-judgment actions. Such a result would be contrary to public policy opposing the endless litigation, as well as the public policy of this state which places priority on the best interest of children and family stability.

ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal has certified that its decision in this case conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>DeRico v. Wilson</u>, 714 So.2d 623 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). Both cases deal with the scope of this Court's decision in <u>Daniel v. Daniel</u>, 695 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1997), which held that a husband who is not a natural or adoptive parent of a child and who has not otherwise contracted for the child's care and support has no duty to pay child support upon the dissolution of the marriage. The <u>DeRico</u> Court gave a broad application to the <u>Daniel</u> decision by extending the rule of law to post-judgment proceedings as well as pre-judgment proceedings. The Second District has narrowed the scope of <u>Daniel</u> to cases where paternity and child support issues are raised during the trial prior to entry of Final Judgment.

In <u>Daniel</u> the mother became pregnant before her marriage and the child was born during the marriage. The parties stipulated that Mr. Daniel was not the biological father and the issues of paternity and child support were litigated at the trial level. The specific issue presented to the trial court was whether Mr. Daniel could be obligated to support the child even though

7

he was not the biological father.² This Court affirmed the opinion of the Second District in <u>Daniel.</u>

In the instant case Cathy became pregnant before her marriage to Michael and the child was born during the marriage. The issues of paternity and child support were not litigated during the dissolution proceedings. Michael filed a Motion for Relief From Final Judgment and a Supplemental Petition to Modify Amended Final Judgment. These pleadings were filed within a year of the entry of final judgment, thereby invoking the provisions of Fla. Fam. L. R. P. 12.540(b), which imposed an additional burden on him of proving either extrinsic or intrinsic fraud in order to obtain relief.

In <u>DeRico</u> as in <u>Daniel</u> the children were born during the marriage. The issues of paternity and child support did not arise until more than one year after entry of Final Judgment. Thus, in <u>DeRico</u> the father should have been limited to proof of extrinsic fraud in order to obtain relief under Rule 12.540(b).

It is interesting to note that the instant case is the only case found by Cathy that deals with a post-judgment proceeding within one year of final

² Because this issue was raised before entry of Final Judgment, there were no issues pertaining to fraud, res judicata, or estoppel.

judgment. Daniel rose out of issues raised at the trial level. DeRico arose out of issues raised more than one year after final judgment as did Lefler v. Lefler, 722 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); D.F. v. Dept. of Revenue, 736 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999); Dept. of Revenue v. Pough, 723 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1998); Dept. of Revenue v. Sullivan, 727 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999); and possibly Dept. of Revenue v. Byrd, 710 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). The First District Court of Appeal and the Fifth District Court of Appeal have given a broad application to Daniel while the Second District Court of Appeal has narrowed the application of Daniel. It is Cathy's position that the conflict in these cases should be resolved by narrowing the application of the Daniel decision to the facts and circumstances of that case, so that it applies only to those cases where the issues of paternity and child support are raised pre-judgment. However, if this Court rules that <u>Daniel</u> is applicable to the facts of **DeRico** it is then certainly applicable to the case at bar.

In <u>Lefler v. Lefler</u>, (infra) Judge Klein, in a specially concurring opinion discusses the potential legal ramifications that could result if <u>Daniel</u>

is applied to all cases regardless of when the issue of paternity and child support are raised. Any parent at any time could obtain paternity testing without involving the custodial parent, without court order and regardless of motive, i.e. avoidance of paying child support, vendetta against former wife or children, intimidation, retaliation for losing custody battle, etc. If negative results are obtained the parent could terminate the child support obligation. Instead of a presumption of legitimacy and paternity attaching to matrimony, the courts would be compelled to reopen the proceedings and terminate child support at anytime upon proof of negative paternity testing. The doctrines of res judicata, and equitable estoppel exist precisely to thwart this type of never ending judicial review. DeClaire v. Yohanan, 453 So.2d 375 (Fla. 1984). Adopting the <u>DeRico</u> rationale in post-judgment challenges to paternity and child support make virtually all cases involving children and child support amenable to challenge. Adopting Michael's reasoning for applying **Daniel** to the instant case would remove the burden of proving fraud in a post-judgment proceeding, and eliminate estoppel and res judicata as defenses to such proceedings.

A broad application of the **Daniel** doctrine will have untold social and

legal impact on family law proceedings in the State of Florida. The ultimate purpose in resolving issues involving children is to make decisions that will be in their best interest. To allow former spouses at anytime to reopen a divorce proceeding without anything more than a negative paternity test flies in the face of this policy, not to mention the long standing legal doctrines of res judicata and estoppel as well as the legal requirements of Rule 12.540(b), all of which are designed to bring finality to legal proceedings. The best interest of children are not served by depriving them of child support at anytime a father may elect to question his paternity, and whose motives for doing so would be irrelevant.

The conflict between this case and <u>DeRico</u> is that the Second District has restricted the application of <u>Daniel</u> to issues raised at the trial level, while <u>DeRico</u> applies the <u>Daniel</u> doctrine at anytime, whether during trial, within one year, or after one year of entry of Final Judgment. In order to clarify the rule of law in <u>Daniel</u> this Court should limit the application of <u>Daniel</u> to those cases where the issue is raised at the trial level. If raised within one year of Final Judgment, <u>Daniel</u> should apply only after the requirements of Rule 12.540(b) are satisfied. If raised after one year from entry of Final Judgment, <u>Daniel</u> should apply only after proof of extrinsic fraud.

If this Court resolves the conflict issue in the above manner, it must then turn to a review of the fact finding process of the trial court regarding the issue of fraud. The Circuit Court and the Second District Court of Appeal have affirmed the trial court in its decision in this case. But for the conflict with <u>DeRico</u> in reaching its decision the Second District would been the final word on the factual issues. This Court should not disturb the decision of the trier of fact or the Appellate Court unless the decision fails to satisfy the test of reasonableness <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

II. MICHAEL FAILED TO PROVE FRAUD ON THE PART OF CATHY WITH RESPECT TO HIS PATERNITY, WHICH WAS A NECESSARY ELEMENT TO THE POST-JUDGMENT PROCEEDINGS.

Michael raised the issue of paternity after the entry of an Amended Final Judgment by alleging fraud on the part of Cathy. The doctrines of estoppel and res judicata barred Michael from using evidence obtained prior to entry of final judgment to support his claim of fraud. The only new information available to him, following entry of final judgment, was a paternity test obtained without court order and without acquiescence of Cathy (RV3/295). The test results were not admitted into evidence and are only a part of the record as an exhibit to his pleadings (RV2/253-254;RV3/95).

Michael conceded at the final hearing that the results of the paternity test were the only proof he had that Cathy had defrauded him with respect to paternity. (RV3/68) He could point to no other fact either pre-judgment or post-judgment that indicated that Cathy knew he was not the father of the child (RV3/68). Under the circumstances there is no factual evidence obtained post-judgment to support his allegation of fraud.

Even if the information available to Michael before entry of final judgment were not barred by estoppel and res judicata, they are insufficient to establish fraud. Michael argues that Cathy's affirmative response to his question regarding paternity constitutes fraud and misrepresentation. However, an essential element of fraud is that the party making the representation must know that the representation is false. Once again, Michael can point to no evidence to suggest that Cathy knew that he was not the father of the child. In fact, there is no evidence in the record to suggest that Cathy even had a doubt about Michael's paternity. In order for Michael to prevail, this Court must hold that a negative paternity test obtained postjudgment constitutes fraud per se, which is the practical effect of the District Court decisions in <u>DeRico</u> (infra) and <u>Lefler (supra)</u>. These decisions and the rule of law established by this Court in Daniel (infra) should not be used to eliminate the legal doctrines of res judicata and estoppel with respect to post-judgment paternity and child support issues.

ARGUMENT

Even if Michael proved fraud on the part of Cathy with respect to his paternity, the facts supporting the proof of fraud were known prior to entry of final judgment and barred by the doctrines of estoppel and res judicata, Miller v. Cower, 545 So.2d 768 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989); DeVaugn v. Dept. of Revenue, 691 So.2d 11(Fla. 4th DCA) review denied 700 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1997); Dept. of Revenue v. Byrd, 710 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). It was not a fraud, misrepresentation or lie for Cathy to tell Michael he was the father of the child if she believed it to be true and did not know otherwise when she made the statement. An essential element of fraud is that the party making the representation must know that the representation is false. The traditional elements of fraud are a false statement pertaining to a real fact; the statement is known by the proponent to be false; there is intent by the proponent to induce another to act on the falsity; and there must be injury to the party relying on the deception Charter Air Center, Inc. v. Miller, 348 So.2d 614 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1977) cert denied, 354 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1977); 27 Fla. Jur 2d Fraud and Deceit, §7 (1981); Black's Law Dictionary, 594 (5th Edition, 1979).

Michael failed to provide any evidence and acknowledged he was not aware of any evidence, that would tend to show Cathy knew or even had any reason to believe that he was not the father of the child. Michael obtained paternity tests after entry of the final judgment. He argues that difficulties concerning visitation are what prompted him to obtain the test. However, the transcript reveals that two other significant incidents had occurred before entry of the final judgment which motivated Michael to consider testing. The first incident involved a phone conversation with Cathy's sister wherein he was advised that Cathy had been previously married and that she had had a child born out of wedlock. The second incident occurred when Michael armed with the information from Cathy's sister, confronted Cathy prior to a hearing in June of 1996. During their conversation, Michael asked Cathy whether she had been previously married and he testified that she denied this fact. He further inquired as to whether she had a baby out of wedlock in the past, which Cathy denied (RV3/34). Finally, Michael asked Cathy if he was the father of the child and Cathy answered yes and told him if he did not believe her he should check it out. At the time of the conversation, Michael had already verified that Cathy was previously married despite her denials,

but he was unable to verify the allegation of a child born to her out of wedlock. He did acknowledge that he had made a decision to obtain paternity testing but he could not currently afford the cost. It was not until after entry of final judgment that he was able to pay the \$475.00 cost of the testing (RV3/145). The tests were obtained in March of 1997, some nine months after he confronted Cathy with the information obtained from her sister. Michael would have this Court believe that this delay was solely a result of his inability to raise sufficient funds to obtain testing.

The General Master as trier of fact, found that Michael had not met his burden of proving fraud by Cathy, which was a necessary element to obtain post-judgment relief. The General Master further found that if Michael had proven fraud it was the result of information he had prior to entry of final judgment, which he failed to act upon, and that he had no new information obtained after entry of final judgment. As a result, Michael was estopped from using the information to prove the alleged fraud on the basis of res judicata. Michael then argues that this Court should determine that the statement from Cathy that he was the father, standing alone, satisfies all the elements of fraud and overcomes the defenses of estoppel and res judicata. Such a ruling will amount to a reaffirmance of the broad application of this Court's decision in <u>Daniel</u> by the Fourth and Fifth District Courts.

The doctrines of res judicata and equitable estoppel exist for the precise purpose of thwarting never ending judicial review and in DeClaire v. Yohanan, 453 So.2d 375 (Fla. 1984), this Court held that public policy has always favored the termination of litigation after a party has had an opportunity for a trial and appeal of the trial court's judgment. Michael is not entitled to two bites of the apple. If the issue of paternity had been raised in the dissolution proceedings, the decision in Daniel would control, and his obligation for child support would be terminated. Michael chose to obtain testing and challenge paternity after entry of final judgment. As a result, under Rule 12.540(b) he is required to establish fraud on the part of Cathy. Results of paternity testing are simply insufficient to overcome the burden of fraud Johnson v. Johnson, 395 So.2d 640 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981). The Amended Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage is res judicata on the issue of paternity unless Michael proves fraud, which he was unable to do.

The facts of this case fit squarely within the facts of Lathrop v.

Lathrop, 627 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993). As in Lathrop, Michael had reason to believe he was not the child's father but failed to raise the issue of paternity before entry of final judgment. His failure to do so as in Lathrop should deny him relief under the Daniel decision. His failure to prove fraud in the trial of his post-judgment petition denies him the relief available under Fla. Fam. L. R. P. 12.540(b).

It is not incomprehensible to imagine that both parties believed that Michael was the father of the child until the paternity test was obtained. Under these circumstances to hold that Cathy's statement alone is sufficient to overcome the elements of fraud as required in a post-judgment proceeding flies in the face of the doctrines of res judicata and estoppel.

The proper procedure for Michael to have followed in litigating the paternity issue post-judgment is as follows:

Overcome estoppel and res judicataEstablish fraud following final judgment.Upon satisfactorily resolving issues (a) and (b), Michael would then request paternity tests.

This procedure was established by the General Master in his Order

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